
 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City Council Chambers 

Monday, May 13, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

AGENDA 

Call to Order, Prayer, Pledge of Allegiance 

Adjustment and Approval of the Agenda — Items will only be added or removed with the approval of 

the Mayor and City Council. 

Special Presentations 

1. Students of the Month- Mayor & City Council will recognize the students of the month for May 

2024 from Bessemer City area schools: Bessemer City Primary School, Bessemer City Central 

Elementary School, Bessemer City Middle School, Tryon Elementary and Bessemer City High 

School. 

Request to Speak/Opportunity for Public Comment — This is an opportunity for members of the 

public to express items of interest to the Mayor and City Council.  This is not a time to respond or take 

action.  Any necessary action will be taken under advisement.  Speakers are asked to use proper decorum 

and to limit comments to no more than three minutes. 

2. Public Comment Acknowledgment: City Manager, Josh Ross will provide clarity on items 

mentioned during public comment, if needed. 

Consent Agenda — The items of the Consent Agenda are adopted on a single motion and vote, unless the 

Mayor and City Council wish to withdraw an item for separate vote and/or discussion. 

3. Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting Regular Meeting minutes of the 

April 8, 2024 meeting. 

4. Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting Work Session Meeting minutes of 

the April 30, 2024 meeting. 

Business Items 

5. Proclamation Commemorating National Police Week: City Council will consider proclaiming 

Sunday, May 12th - Saturday, May 18th, 2024 as National Police Week in Bessemer City. 

6. Proclamation Commemorating Juneteenth Week & Festival - Proclamation: City Council 

will consider adopting a proclamation that celebrates Juneteenth week in Bessemer City from 

Sunday, June 9th until Saturday, June 15th, 2024. 

1



7. Establish a Public Hearing - Rezoning Request (Tryon Courthouse Road): City Council will 

consider establishing a public hearing for Monday, June 10th, 2024 at 7:00 PM to hear public 

comment regarding a rezoning request from property owners for property located at tax parcel 

#151483 (0.58 acres) at 1220 N. Tryon Courthouse Rd from Rural (R) to Neighborhood 

Residential (NR) for the construction of one single family residence.  

8. Public Hearing for 2024-2025 Proposed Budget: City Council will hold a public hearing to 

hear public comment regarding the proposed 2024-2025 City budget. 

9. Public Hearing- Petition for Voluntary Annexation (Meritage Homes): City Council will 

hold a public hearing to hear public comment regarding a voluntary annexation petition from 

Meritage Homes (Stewart Crossing) for property located at tax parcel #304904 (23.688 acres). 

10. Ordinance to Extend the corporate limits of the City of Bessemer City, NC: City Council 

will consider approving an ordinance regarding a zoning map amendment for property located at 

tax parcel #304904 (23.688 acres). 

11. Ordinance Amending Zoning Map (Development Solutions Group): City Council 

will consider approving an ordinance regarding a rezoning map request from Development 

Solutions Group to rezone tax parcel ID 151678 from Urban Residential (UR) to Urban 

Residential Conditional District (URCD). A public hearing regarding this ordinance was held on 

Monday, February 12, 2024. 

12. Ordinance - Authorizing An Amendment To Gas Supply Contract With The Public Energy 

Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK”):  

13. Amendment To Gas Supply Contract:  

14. Audit Contract: City Council will consider approving the audit contract with Tony Brewer, 

CPA for the year end June 30, 2024 financials.  

City Manager's Report 

Council General Discussion — This is an opportunity for the Mayor and City Council to ask questions 

for clarification, provide information to staff, request staff to report back, or place a matter on a future 

agenda. 

Adjourn 

2



 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City Council Chambers 

Monday, April 08, 2024 at 7:00 PM  

MINUTES 
Members Present  

Mayor, Becky S. Smith, Council Members: Brenda Boyd, Donnie Griffin, Nellie Floyd, Michael Brooks 

and Allen Hook were all present. City Manager, Josh Ross and Attorney, Marshall Walker were present 

filling in for City Attorney, David Smith. Council member, Brent Guffey was absent.  

Call to Order, Prayer, Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith called the meeting to order. Council member, Brenda Boyd led the audience in prayer. Mayor 

Smith led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Adjustment and Approval of the Agenda  
By motion of Allen Hook and unanimous vote, the April agenda was approved with no revisions.  

 

Special Presentations  

Student Appreciation- Students from Bessemer City High School, Bessemer City Central Elementary 

School, Tryon Elementary and Bessemer City Primary School were recognized by their principals and City 

Council as part of the Student Appreciation Program. Bessemer City Middle School was unable to attend: 

Mrs. Doneen Johnson, Principal of Bessemer City High School, and Mayor Smith, recognized the following 

students of the month:  Tessa Holcombe, 9th grade representative; Daiana Salinas Laguna, 10th grade 

representative; Mason Maag, 11th grade representative and Jason Morris, 12th grade representative.   

 

Dr. April Conley, Principal of Bessemer City Central School, and Mayor Smith, recognized the following 

students of the month: Maddox Burgess; 3rd grade representative; 4th grade representative, Kensleigh 

Anderson; and 5th grade representative, Margarita Alcudia Lopez.  

 

Dr. Bill Kessler, Principal of Bessemer City Primary and Mayor Smith, recognized the following students 

of the month: Kenzley Brooks & Gabriela Romero Vasquez, Kindergarten representative; Alexandra 

Quezada-Garcia, 1st grade representative, and Alexander Ruiz, 2nd grade representative.  

 

Mrs. Kelsey Nixon, Kindergarten Administrator of Tryon Elementary and Mayor Smith, recognized the 

following students of the month: Rayce Hampton, Kindergarten representative; Mason Moore, 1st grade, 

Noah Kish, 2nd grade representative, Alexa Galo Reyes, 3rd grade representative; Alex Hardy, 4th grade 

representative; and Micah Davidson, 5th grade representative.  

Request to Speak/Opportunity for Public Comment 
Mayor Smith opened the floor for public comment. The following individuals came forth:  

3

Item 3.



- Pamela Gladney of 502 E. Ohio Avenue: Mrs. Gladney addressed Council regarding the Planning & 

Zoning Board of Adjustments. Mrs. Gladney stated that the Planning & Zoning Board April meeting was 

cancelled as one guest couldn’t attend. Gladney stated that although the developers could not attend, other 

housekeeping matters could’ve been discussed. Gladney further stated that the minutes should be available 

for public inspection. The minutes should not be left unadopted for months on end. Additionally, Gladney 

had a question about why 5 members of the planning & zoning board could serve on the board of 

adjustments. Additionally, Gladney would like for the agenda packets to be released to the public.  

 

-Aaron Grosdider of 517 Costner School Road: Mr. Grosdider thanked City Council for not moving forward 

with the close and vacate order on property at 112 West Georgia Avenue. Council chose to give the property 

owner a 30-day extension. Mr. Grosdider also provided words recognizing late Council member, Dan 

Boling. Mr. Grosdider stated that that he believed the City spent $1,500 to $2,000 to pay a 3rd party to 

remove the fall banners around town. Item 11 on the agenda (Storm Water Implementation), is an 

unnecessary increase. Grosdider made claims that his City water remains to have a foul odor and color. 

Grosdider thanked City staff for answering his FOIA request in a timely manner. Lastly, Mr. Grosdider 

would like to see the City meetings streamed online for citizens who cannot attend the City Council 

meetings.  

 

Public Comment Acknowledgment 

Mayor Smith recognized City Manager, Josh Ross to provide clarification on some items discussed during 

public comment. 

 The Planning Board has seven board members, and the Zoning Board of Adjustments has five board 

members as this board makes quasi-judicial decisions. In an effort to maintain the quasi-judicial 

function, the board has two members that serve as alternates.  

 

Consent Agenda 

The following items on the Consent Agenda were unanimously approved by motion of Brenda Boyd: 

1.  Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting Regular Meeting minutes of the 

March 11, 2024 meeting. 

2. Approval of Minutes: City Council will consider adopting Work Session Meeting minutes of 

the April 2, 2024 meeting. 

Proclamation honoring Council Member, Dan Boling 

Mayor, Becky S. Smith read the proclamation recognizing Dan Boling for his 18 years of service.  

 

By motion of Donnie Griffin and unanimous vote, the Proclamation was adopted.  

 

Resolution Directing the Clerk to Investigate a Petition Received for Voluntary Annexation 

N.C.G.S. §160A-31 (Meritage Homes) 

By motion of Donnie Griffin and unanimous vote, a resolution directing the City Clerk to investigate the 

petition for voluntary annexation from Meritage Homes Inc. for the Stewart Crossing homes project per 

NCGS 160A – 31 was adopted.   

 

Development Services Director, Nathan Hester addressed City Council regarding the Meritage Homes 

Inc. project. This project was previously approved under a different developer, Eastwood Homes. Thus, 

the project must be resubmitted by the new development team. The team has met with City Staff and 

shared construction drawings of the 6 different parcels.  

 

4

Item 3.



 

Establish a Public Hearing - Petition for Voluntary Annexation (Meritage Homes):  
By motion of Allen Hook and unanimous vote, City Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, May 

13th, 2024 at 7:00 PM to hear public comment regarding a voluntary annexation petition from Meritage 

Homes (Stewart Crossing) for property located at tax parcel #304904 (23.688 acres). City Council Member, 

Michael Brooks ask that new Council Members be sent the details of what was previously approved under 

the Eastwood Homes project for reference.  

 

Establish a Public Hearing - 2024-2025 Proposed Budget:  
By motion of Michael Brooks and unanimous vote, City Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, 

May 13th, 2024 at 7:00 PM to hear public comment regarding the proposed 2024-2025 City budget.  

 

Resolution- Application for NC DEQ Water Infrastructure Funding (Lead & Copper Study) 

City Manager, Joshua Ross informed Council that City Staff would like to apply for funding to assist with 

the completion of the mandated Lead & Copper Study. In order to comply with this mandated Lead & 

Copper study, City Staff will need assistance from a third party to complete this extensive scope of work.  

 

By motion of Donnie Griffin and unanimous vote, the resolution regarding the application of NC DEQ 

water funds for a lead and copper study was approved.  

 

Capital Project Ordinance- RC2 Grant Project  
City Manager, Joshua Ross Development Services Director, Nathan Hester informed Council that the City 

has received a grant from NC Department of Commerce through the RC2 project. Thus, a capital project 

ordinance detailing how the funds will be spent is needed. The grant was $49, 999 and City Staff would 

like to use the funds primarily for City branding and an economic development study. The City would like 

to do a corridor study and downtown master plan.  

 

By motion of Nellie Floyd and unanimous vote, the capital project ordinance regarding RC2 grant funds 

was approved.  

 

Bessemer City Storm Water Fee Implementation Plan  

City Manager, Joshua Ross addressed Council regarding the Stormwater Fee Implementation plan. In 2021 

the City had an impervious study done to determine the ERU stormwater rate for non-residential surfaces. 

Previously, City Council voted to implement a new rate structure for Stormwater Fees based on this study 

on July 1, 2024. However, upon further review Staff would like to recommend a three-phase process:  

 

 Phase 1: 2024-2025 Budget (July 1, 2024) Residential- Stormwater Fee of $3.07/month goes to 

$6.00/month Non-Residential- 50% of proposed fee implemented (based on impervious surface; 

multiplier $3.00) 

 

 Phase 2: 2025-2026 Budget (July 1, 2025) Residential- Stormwater Fee remains at $6.00/month 

Non-Residential- 75% of proposed fee implemented (based on impervious surface; multiplier is 

$4.50) 

 

 Phase 3: 2026-2027 Budget (July 1, 2026) Residential- Stormwater Fee remains $6.00/month Non-

Residential- 100% of proposed fee implemented (based on impervious surface; multiplier is $6.00) 

 

By motion of Allen Hook and unanimous vote, the three phases implementation option was adopted.  

  

5

Item 3.



City Manager’s Report 

City Manager, Josh Ross, addressed Council regarding the following:  

- General: The budget process is underway, and all available information for the public has been placed 

on the website. Parks & Recreation will have their first Concert & Cruise-In on Saturday, April 27th. 

Down Home Festival is coming up as well. Downtown Development has moved the Farmer’s Market 

to Sundays to increase artisan participation. Mr. Ross made a few remarks to remember former 

Council Member, Dan Boling as his funeral services were earlier today.   

 

Council General Discussion  

Mayor Smith opened the floor for Council general discussion. Mayor Smith opened the discussion with 

informing everyone that the Work Session this month would begin at 2 PM. Council Member, Michael 

Brooks inquired about how to stream meetings and his condolences about the late Dan Boling. Per general 

consensus, the streaming of meetings will be discussed at the next Work Session. Council Member, Allen 

Hook inquired about the shoulder on Edgewood Road near the new stoplight. City Staff has reached out to 

NCDOT about improving this area. Additionally, Mr. Hook inquired about the cost associated with 

streaming the meetings. Mr. Hook made a few remarks regarding the late Dan Boling. Council Member, 

Brenda Boyd spoke about recently attending a seminar on behalf of the City, and how blessed she is to 

serve the citizens of Bessemer City. Additionally, Dan Boling was a great man and will be missed dearly. 

Council Member, Nellie Floyd thanked City Staff for addressing citizen complaints about Rice Street. Mr. 

Boling was a man of integrity and he welcomed me on to the board. He will be missed. Council member, 

Donnie Griffin inquired about streaming meetings and the passing of Dan Boling.  

 

Adjournment  

Being no further business to come before the board, by motion of Brenda Boyd and unanimous vote, the 

meeting was adjourned at 8:01 PM. 

 

 

_______________________                                                   ______________________________ 

   Becky S. Smith, Mayor                                   Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

6

Item 3.



 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

City Council Chambers 

Tuesday, April 30, 2024 at 2:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Call to Order 

Mayor Becky S. Smith called the meeting to order.  

 

Members Present  

Mayor, Becky S. Smith, Council Members: Michael Brooks, Brenda Boyd, Brent Guffey, Donnie Griffin, 

Nellie Floyd, and Allen Hook were all present. City Manager, Josh Ross, and department heads were present 

as well. A quorum was present.  

 

Department Head Reports 

Bessemer City department heads gave reports on their department’s status:  

 

JoD Franklin, Parks and Recreation Director- Mr. Franklin addressed Council regarding the 1st Concert & 

Cruise-In and Down Home Festival. This year the Gaston County Police Department will have a “Safe 

Kids” booth on Thursday night to coincide with family festival night.  

 

Nathan Hester, Development Services Director – Mr. Hester addressed Council regarding the Lennar homes 

project, the City’s new online development services portal, and the Planning Boards next meeting.  

 

Diane Jenkins, Finance Director – Ms. Jenkins addressed Council regarding the upcoming audit.  

 

Deputy Chief, David James & Police Captain, Chris Vaugh- Mr. James & Vaughn addressed Council 

regarding the recent police shooting in Charlotte. The task force team that lost 3 members was a great asset 

to the City.  

 

Interviews for Appointed Boards 

Light discussion was held regarding the process of reviewing advisory board applicants. City Staff 

suggested that a sub-committee be created to interview board applicants and report back to the larger group.  

 

Nellie Floyd made a motion to create the sub-committee with the advisory board liaison and two other 

Council members. This motion failed, with 5 opposed: Brenda Boyd, Michael Brooks, Brent Guffey, 

Donnie Griffin, and Allen Hook.  

 

Mayor Smith instructed City Clerk, Hydeia Hayes to invite the upcoming Board members to the May 2024 

Work Session. This will give City Council the opportunity to meet with all of the candidates.  

 

 

 

7

Item 4.



Streaming of City Meetings 

City Manager, Josh Ross addressed City Council regarding the streaming of City Meetings. He inquired 

about streaming regular and work session meetings. Light discussion was held regarding sound and mic 

logistics. The meetings will be streamed to YouTube Live to be more accessible to the public.  

 

By motion of Michael Brooks and unanimous vote, regular meetings will be streamed beginning in May 

2024.  

 

FY 2024-2025 Budget Session #2 

City Manager, Josh Ross addressed City Council regarding the proposed budget. This proposed budget 

has an increase of solid waster, sewer, and stormwater fees for non- residential units. A decrease in 

transfers is anticipated, and the fund balance will not be used to balance the budget. There is a proposed 

tax increase of $0.45 to $0.60. This increase will aid in 24/7 fire department coverage, among other 

pertinent items. There are 5 factors that drove this proposed budget:  

 

• Additional debt services in the general fund and water/wastewater fund  

• Additional operational expenses (inflation)  

• Fund balance  

• Investments for growth  

• Decrease in utility usage 
 

We are a growing community, and we will need to increase fees to maintain our services with the growth.  

 

By general consensus, Manager Ross is permitted to hold conversations with Waste Pro to negotiate the 

$35 bulk rate and $16 per can rate.  

 

Council General Discussion 

Mayor Smith opened the floor for Council general discussion. Council member, Donnie Griffin inquired 

about the Optimist Club baseball program. Council member, Allen Hook stated that all of the advisory 

board members didn’t need to come in person. Light discussion ensued about the board applicant process 

again. City Manager, Josh Ross informed the Board that he and City Clerk, Hydeia Hayes would work on 

drafting a process for Council to review. 

 

Adjourn 

Being no further business to come before the board, the meeting was adjourned at 4:08 PM by motion of 

Michael Brooks and unanimous vote. 

 

 

_______________________                                                  ______________________________ 

   Becky S. Smith, Mayor                 Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

8

Item 4.



 PROCLAMATION 

National Police Week 2024

To recognize National Police Week 2024 and to honor the service and sacrifice of those law enforcement 
officers killed in the line of duty while protecting our communities and safeguarding our democracy.  

WHEREAS, there are approximately 800,000 law enforcement officers serving in communities across the 
United States, including the dedicated members of the Bessemer City Police Department; and

WHEREAS, nearly 60,000 assaults against law enforcement officers are reported each year, resulting in 

approximately 16,000 injuries; and

WHEREAS, since the first recorded death in 1791, almost 25,000 law enforcement officers in the United 
States have made the ultimate sacrifice and been killed in the line of duty; and

WHEREAS, The City of Bessemer City wishes to recognize Officer, Michael Patrick Jenkins and Chief Lloyd 
M. Parton of the Bessemer City Police Department who were killed in the line of duty; and

WHEREAS, the names of these dedicated public servants are engraved on the walls of the National Law 

Enforcement Officers Memorial in Washington, D.C.; and

WHEREAS, many new names of fallen heroes are being added to the National Law Enforcement Officers 

Memorial; and

WHEREAS, the service and sacrifice of all officers killed in the line of duty will be honored during 

the National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial Fund’s 36th Annual Candlelight Vigil, on the evening of 
May 13, 2024; and

WHEREAS, May 15 is designated as Peace Officers Memorial Day, in honor of all fallen officers and their 

families and U.S. flags should be flown at half-staff.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Bessemer City formally designates Sunday, May 

12 - Saturday, May 18, 2024, as Police Week in Bessemer City, and publicly salutes the service of 
law enforcement officers in our community and in communities across the nation. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand this the 13th day of May, 2024

_______________________________          ________________________________  

 Becky S. Smith, Mayor   Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk 

COBC-GOVBOD-2023-2024 P 7 
9

Item 5.



 
PROCLAMATION  

COMMEMORATING JUNETEENTH WEEK A NATIONAL WEEK OF PRIDE 

 

WHEREAS, the Emancipation Proclamation, an executive order issued January 1st, 1863 by President 

Abraham Lincoln immediately freed approximately five hundred thousand from generational bondage, but still 

left approximately 3.5 million enslaved across the United States; and 

 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth is the oldest known celebration commemorating the ending of slavery in the United 

States, when Union soldiers led by Major General Gordon Granger arrived in Galveston, Texas to announce the 

war had ended, freeing the enslaved; and  

WHEREAS, 2024 is the 159th anniversary of Juneteenth Day, a federally recognized holiday as of Friday, June 

18, 2021 which commemorates June 19, 1865 as the observance of African American Emancipation Day of 

Freedom; and  

WHEREAS, “Emancipation Day” is an opportunity for Americans of all faiths to join in united prayer to 

acknowledge our dependence on God, to give thanks for blessings received, to request healing for wounds 

endured, and to ask God to guide our leaders and bring wholeness to the United States and her citizens; and 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth is a time to cultivate the true spirit of freedom and remember our ancestors as the men 

and women who bravely acted as catalysts for change; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Belmont, City of Bessemer City, City of Gastonia, and Elements of Empowerment, 

will host a Juneteenth Celebration on Friday, June 14, in Bessemer City Centennial Park from 6:00 PM -10:00 

PM, and Saturday, June 15, 2024 in Belmont and Gastonia, beginning with “Juneteenth Sunday” on Sunday, 

June 9, 2024. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Becky S. Smith and the City Council do hereby proclaim June 19th, 2024 as 

“Juneteenth Day” and Sunday, June 9th as “Juneteenth Sunday” and encourage citizens to recognize and 

commemorate Juneteenth which honors the history, legacy, and culture of African Americans throughout the 

United States of America by participating in celebrations and festivities during the month of June.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City of Bessemer City to 

be affixed on this 13th day of May 2024. 

 

       

                                             

 
_______________________________                   ________________________________                              

          Becky S. Smith, Mayor                             Hydeia Y. Hayes, City Clerk  

COBC-GOVBOD-2023-2024 P 6 

10

Item 6.



11

Item 7.



12

Item 7.



13

Item 7.



14

Item 7.



15

Item 7.



16

Item 7.



 
City of Bessemer City, North Carolina 

General Rezoning Staff Report 

Planning Board Agenda Item May 6th, 2024 

City Council Agenda Item June 10th, 2024 

Applicant:  James Robert Whisnant 
 

Request: 
 

To review and make a recommendation on the rezoning of one.58 acres parcel of land currently 
zoned Rural (R) to Neighborhood Residential (NR). The intent of the property owner is to utilize 
the property for the construction of one single family residence.   

 

Background Information: 
 

The property requested for zoning map amendment is assigned by the Gaston County Tax Mapping 
Department with PID#151483 and is approximately 0.58 acres in size. The current property owners 
are James Robert Whisnant and Sonja Rodden of 1220 N. Tryon Courthouse Rd. Bessemer City, 
NC 28016.  

The property owner, James Whisnant, inherited the land parcel from his family and grew up in the 
single-family structure that was previously on the land. Currently the parcel is zoned Rural which 
requires single family structures to meet the following zoning regulations: front setback of 100’ 
due to viewshed overlay, rear setback of 50’, side setbacks of 15’, and a corner setback of 50’. Due 
to the land of record measuring approximately 100’ in width, it prevents anyone from constructing 
a single-family residence upon the lot.  

The applicants are requesting a rezoning to Neighborhood Residential (NR) which would change 
the single-family zoning requirements for the lot to a front setback of 20’, rear setback of 30’, side 
setbacks of 12’, and a corner setback of 20’. The proposed structure to be constructed upon the lot 
if rezoned would be able to accommodate the Neighborhood Residential zoning requirements.  

17

Item 7.



The previous residential structure utilized a septic tank on the property that has been inspected and 
is in good working condition. The driveway that accessed the former structure would be utilized 
to access the proposed structure. Adjacent parcels to the North and west are zoned Rural (R) and 
adjacent parcels to the east and south are zoned Neighborhood Residential (NR). The rezoning of 
this parcel of land from Rural (R) to Neighborhood Residential NR) would be following the City 
of Bessemer City future land use map.  

 

Staff Recommendation:  
 

1. Approve rezoning as requested.  

 

Exhibits: 
 

1. 1216 N. Tryon Courthouse Rd. Rezoning Application Packet. 
 

Recommended Effective Date: June 10, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

18

Item 7.



19

Item 9.



20

Item 9.



21

Item 9.



22

Item 9.



23

Item 9.



24

Item 9.



25

Item 9.



26

Item 9.



27

Item 9.



28

Item 9.



29

Item 9.



30

Item 9.



31

Item 9.



32

Item 9.



33

Item 9.



34

Item 9.



35

Item 9.



36

Item 9.



37

Item 9.



38

Item 9.



39

Item 9.



132 West Virginia Avenue · Bessemer City, NC 28016 · Phone: 704-629-5542 · Fax: 704-629-2237 

 
 
 
 
 

        COBC-GOVBOD-2023-2024 O 14 

City of Bessemer City 
 

 
ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY 

OF BESSEMER CITY, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 

WHERAS, the City Council has been petitioned under GS 160A-31 to annex the area 

described below; and 

 

WHERAS, the City Council has directed the City Clerk to investigate the sufficiency of the 

petition; and  

 

WHERAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing on 

the question of this annexation was held in the Council Chambers of City Hall at 7:00PM on 

May 13th, 2024, after due notice by publication in the Gaston Gazette on Wednesday, May 1st, 

2024; and  

 

WHERAS, the City Council finds that the petition and annexation map meet the requirements 

of contiguous annexation found in GS 160A-31; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Bessemer City, 

North Carolina that:  

 

Section 1. By virtue of the territory described below is hereby annexed and made part of the 

City of Bessemer City as of May 13th, 2024.  

 

Section 2. Upon and after May 13th, 2024, the area described below shall be subject to all 

debts, laws, ordinances, and regulations in force in the City of Bessemer City and shall be 

entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other parts of the City of Bessemer City. Said 

territory shall be subject to municipal taxes according to GS 160A-58. l0. 

 

Section 3. The Mayor of the City of Bessemer City shall cause to be recorded in the office of 

the Register of Deeds of Gaston County, and in the office of the Secretary of State at Raleigh, 

North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed territory together with a duly certified copy of  

 

40

Item 10.



132 West Virginia Avenue · Bessemer City, NC 28016 · Phone: 704-629-5542 · Fax: 704-629-2237 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

this ordinance. Such a map shall also be delivered to the City Board of Elections, as required 

by GS 163-288.1.  

ANNEXATION AREA DESCRIPTION 

The area is 23.688 acres as shown on the deed recorded in Gaston County Registry by Tax 

Parcel Number 304904 in deed book 5357 and page 2169 respectively to which reference is 

hereby made for a fuller and complete description of said lot by metes and bounds.  

 

Adopted this 13th day of May, 2024.   
 
       ______________________________ 
                                    BECKY S. SMITH, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:  _____________________________ 
     HYDEIA Y. HAYES, CITY CLERK                                                                      

 
 
NORTH CAROLINA 
GASTON COUNTY 
 
This the _____ day of _________, ______, personally appeared before me, a Notary Public for 
said County and State, Hydeia Y. Hayes who being duly sworn to me says that she knows the 
common seal of the City of Bessemer City and is acquainted with Becky S. Smith, who is the 
Mayor and presiding member of said municipal corporation; and that she saw the Mayor sign the 
foregoing instrument and saw the common seal of the said municipal corporation affixed to said 
instrument by said Mayor, and that she, the said Hydeia Y. Hayes, signed her name in attestation 
of said instrument in the presence of said Mayor of said municipal corporation. 
 
Witness my hand and notarial seal, this the _____ day of _______, _____. 

 
 
 

      __________________________ 
           Notary Public 
 
My Commission expires _________________ 
 

 

Prepared By: Hydeia Y. Hayes (Bessemer City City Hall) 
Mail To: Bessemer City Hall 
  ATTN: Hydeia Hayes  
 132 W. Virginia Ave. 
 Bessemer City, NC 28016 

41

Item 10.



LAND DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION FORM

1. Application Type ✔ Fee ✔ Fee

• Sketch Plan/Plat (Major Sub): • Conditional Zoning (CZ) ______

• Preliminary Plat (Major Sub): • Special Use Permit (SUP) ______

• Final Plat (Major Sub): • Text Amendment _______

• Major Site Plan  _______ • Minor Site Plan _______

• Construction Documents: • Minor Subdivision Plat _______

• Recombination Plat  _______ • General Rezoning _______

• Other:  _______ 

Fee Total: 

2. Project Information

       Square Footage:_________________________ 

Staff Only: 
Date Rec’d: 
Rec’d by: 
Case #: 

Date of Application:     Name of Project:  

Location:              Property Size (acres): ______      # of Units/Lots:   _____________     

Current Zoning:             Proposed Zoning:   

Current Land Use:__________________________          Proposed Land Use:  __________________________________               

Tax Parcel Number(s):   

132 W. Virginia Ave.  
Bessemer City, NC 28016 
(704) 629 – 5542 Ext. 1003

10/16/2023

Nathan Hester
CD 03-2023

700.00

700.00

10/16/23 Yellow Jacket Lane Townhomes

ML Kiser and Bess Town Road 6.26

UR CZ

Vacant Townhomes

151678

N/A

68

42

Item 11.



3. Contact Information     
               
Owner, Applicant, or Developer        

Agent(s) (Engineer, Architect, Etc.)  

                
   Address              

                

 
Address  

                
    
City, State Zip  
           

                
 
 City, State Zip   

                
   Telephone   
           

                
 
Telephone        

        
  
 

                
    

   Email  
              

  

Email 
     

       
4. The following items may also be required to be considered part of a complete application, please check all that 

apply on this list:  
  
 Signed “Original” application  

 Project Fee(s) – See Fee Schedule  

 Written Summary/Description of Request can be on company letterhead. Shall include requested use or uses, sq. feet of 
non-residential space, or density and number of units/lots for residential, or any other applicable information. For CZ’s, must also 
describe any variations proposed from the Land Development Code  

 Property Survey (at least one copy), including existing buildings, topography, wetlands, streams, vegetation (trees over 18” 
in diameter), and other natural features.  

 Site/sketch plan (at least one copy), may contain multiple pages and must be drawn to scale by an engineer or landscape 
architect. Shall include locations of buildings and/or lots, streets, parking, proposed grading, landscaping/screening, open space, 
watershed/storm water information, associated storm water measures, and proposed utilities and lighting. Shall also include general 
information from adjoining lots  

 Illustrative (color) site/sketch plan for presentation purposes with same layers as described above  

 Architectural elevations, Perspective Renderings, and Architectural Review Board Checklist may include multiple 
pages and must be drawn to scale by an architect. Include all primary and accessory buildings (all building sides), an illustrative 
color package, and black and white w/dimensions. Other architectural elements/features of the site such as gazebos, trellis’s, garden 
walls, retaining walls, or other items over 4-feet in height must also be included (NOT REQUIRED, BUT OPTIONAL FOR 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS).  

 Illustrative (color) elevations for presentation purposes for all items described above, as well as perspective (3D) renderings 
and photograph examples  

 Digital Files of all items listed above  
 

  

 
      Last Update: 07/06/2021 
   
Signature:____________________________ Printed Name:_________________________ Date:______________ 

Development Solutions Group, LLC
LC3 Consulting

11121 Carmel Commons Blvd #360 320 Inland Cove Court

Charlotte, NC 28226

704-543-0760 803-415-4866

kent@olsondvelopment.com kcrowe@lc3consulting.com

●

Clover, SC 29710

43

Item 11.



 

 

PLANNING BOARD/BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

REQUEST FOR ACTION 

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 3.b      MEETING DATE:5-13-2024 

DESCRIPTION: Rezoning of Parcel #151678 from Urban Residential to Conditional District for 

residential Townhome Development.  

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: See Informational Packet. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve development as submitted.  

BOARD ACTION TAKEN: 

 Pursue Project of multifamily development on site with relief of 3 acre size limitation.  

 Recommend reducing density to Land Development Code restriction of 8 units per acre.  

 Recommend deny relief of decreased open space.  

 Recommend developer meet required setbacks. No relief of setback requirements recommended.  

 Recommend to accept dedication to City of Bessemer City of the two main right of ways within the 
development and recommend that alleyways remain privately owned and maintained by future HOA. 

 

44

Item 11.



Exhibit A 

Areas of Relief and Conditions of Approval 

 

 

1. The proposed development shall follow the requirements of the City of Bessemer City 

Land Development Code with the added relief of: 

a. Allowing the development for multifamily use on one lot that is excess of three 

(3) acres.  

b. Allowing for an excess of eight (8) units per acre, which is more than the density 

requirements per acre stated within 3.2.A. of the city’s LDC.  

c. Relief of the open space requirement. The developer will be financially 

responsible for payment in lieu of the required dedicated open space. This 

payment will be calculated utilizing the requirements stated in 4.8.D. 

d. Relief from front setback requirements provided in section 3.2.A of the Bessemer 

City Land Development Code.  

e. Developer will commit to servicing the project with Natural Gas utility service, 

the developer will be financially responsible for the infrastructure expansion.  

2. All other multifamily design standards stated within the City of Bessemer City Land 

Development Code shall be adhered to.  

3. The developer shall extend the City of Bessemer City water and sewer to and within the 

site, at their expense. The development will be served by City utilities: water and sewer.  

4. All off-site utility easements, if necessary to provide utilities to the site, must be obtained 

by the developer, at their expense, prior to approval of construction plans, issuance of 

permits, or commencement of construction. 

5. Conditional Zoning approval is valid for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the 

date of approval.  

45

Item 11.



PLAN CONSISTENCY & STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

March 11th, 2024 

 
Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §160D-605 the City of Bessemer City Council hereby approves 
and adopts the following Plan Consistency and Statement of Reasonableness for the 
rezoning of the Tax Parcels included with development application CD 03-2023 within the 
City limits and Extra Territorial Jurisdiction of Bessemer City, North Carolina as noted and 
depicted on the proposed Official Zoning Map.  
 
1) Said zoning change is consistent with the goals and values established by the City 

Council adopted in 2023.  

a. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following six 
values: 1. Accountability, 2. Ethics, 3. Community Dependability, 4. Honesty, 5. Respect, 6. 
Open-Mindedness. These rezoning’s are consistent with these values.  

b. The City Council created a mission and vision statement that included the following five 
goals: 1. Promote a desirable place to live and work that provides a healthy quality of 
life, 2. Ensure a safe and secure community for residents and visitors, 3. Invest in a high 
quality infrastructure to support a thriving and diverse economy, 4. Provide 
opportunities for citizen engagement and promote volunteerism, 5. Foster 
organizational sustainability that embraces innovation and creativity. These rezoning’s 
are consistent with these goals.   
 

2) Said rezoning is consistent with the City of Bessemer City 2020 Vision Plan and 
the City of Bessemer City Planning and Economic Development  
Comprehensive Land Use Vision Map ad op t ed  b y  t h e  C i t y  Cou n c i l  in  2019 .  T he 
proposed rezoning’s are: 

a. Consistent with the existing adjacent land uses as designated on the official land use map. 

 

3) The proposed map amendments would not be detrimental to the city and ETJ. 

a. The physical conditions that make the rezoning’s reasonable are: 

• Provides Residential and Economic Development growth opportunities with new 
development in areas that are currently zoned to accommodate the applicable 
use.  

b. Rezoning is in the best interest of the public to increase and maximize property values to 
provide for future infrastructure and amenities.  

 

 

 

 

 46

Item 11.



 

Therefore, the requested rezoning’s are reasonable and in the public interest. 

Upon a motion that the application is consistent with the Bessemer City Planning and 
Economic Development Comprehensive Land Use Vision. 

Read, approved and adopted this the 11th day of March, 2024. 

 
ATTEST CITY COUNCIL FOR THE  
 CITY OF BESSEMER CITY 

 
BY   

Hydeia Hayes, City Clerk Becky S. Smith, Mayor 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 

 
David Smith, City Attorney 

47

Item 11.



 
ME1 48291894v.1 

ORDINANCE OF BESSEMER CITY, NORTH CAROLINA AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO ITS GAS SUPPLY CONTRACT WITH THE 

PUBLIC ENERGY AUTHORITY OF KENTUCKY (“PEAK”); AUTHORIZING THE 

[CITY MANAGER] TO ACCEPT A DISCOUNT BELOW THE MINIMUM DISCOUNT 

SPECIFIED IN THE GAS SUPPLY CONTRACT IN CONNECTION WITH THE RESET 

OF THE AVAILABLE DISCOUNT IN PEAK’S GAS PREPAYMENT PROJECT; AND 

ADDRESSING RELATED MATTERS 

WHEREAS, Bessemer City, North Carolina (the "City") is a body politic and 

corporate, municipal corporation and unit of local government of the State of North 

Carolina; and 

WHEREAS, the City owns and operates a municipal gas distribution utility and is  

authorized by the provisions of the City Council to acquire, purchase, transport, store and 

manage supplies of gas necessary to meet the requirements of the residential, commercial 

and industrial customers served by such utility; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Energy Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK”), which was formed 

pursuant to the Natural Gas Acquisition Authority Act, KRS 353.400 to 353.410, has 

acquired long-term natural gas supplies from BP Energy Company ("BPEC"),  for resale to 

the City and certain other public gas distribution systems that elected to contract with 

PEAK for a portion of the gas purchased from BPEC (the "Prepaid Project"); and  

WHEREAS, in order to fund the prepayment of gas supplies in connection with the 

Prepaid Project, PEAK issued its Gas Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 B (the “Series 

2018 B Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, the City and PEAK are parties to that certain Gas Supply Contract dated 

as of September 1, 2018 (the “Supply Contact”) providing for the sale and purchase of gas 

supplies from the Prepaid Project, and capitalized terms used and not defined in this 

resolution shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Supply Contract; and  

WHEREAS, the Supply Contract provides for the periodic re-calculation of the 

Available Discount for Reset Periods subsequent to the Initial Reset  Period pursuant to 

procedures and parameters set forth in a Repricing Agreement between PEAK and BPEC; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Initial Reset Period expires on November 30, 2024 and pursuant to 

the Repricing Agreement the amount of the Available Discount and the length of the Reset 

Period during which the Available Discount will be in effect will be determined; and  

WHEREAS, PEAK is in discussions with BPEC in connection with the optimal 

approach to structuring the refunding of the Series 2018 B Bonds and is considering 

different options which affect the Available Discount for the Reset Period, including  

different options for the term and discount to be available during the Reset Period; and  

WHEREAS, certain of those options may require an Amendment to the Supply 

Contract, while others may not; 

48

Item 12.



 
ME1 48291894v.1 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it hereby resolved by the City of Bessemer, North Carolina that: 

1. The [City Manager] (the “Authorized Officer”), is hereby authorized to (a) 

respond to all notices provided by PEAK with respect to the estimated 

Available Discount, the final Available Discount and the Reset Period, 

including the Remarketing Notice, pursuant to the Supply Contract, and (b) 

enter into an amendment to the Supply Contract between the City and PEAK, 

if necessary and appropriate, to reflect such changes to the Supply Contract 

as shall be necessary or desirable in structuring the best resolution of the 

Reset Period options that may be available to PEAK under the Repricing 

Agreement, as described in the following section of this resolution.  

 

2. The Authorized Officer is hereby delegated full authority to effectuate a 

continuation of the transaction for the Reset Period from among the options 

that may be available, including but not limited to: (i) accepting an Available 

Discount for the next Reset Period (as determined under the Repricing 

Agreement) that is less than the Minimum Discount specified in the Supply 

Contract, but in no case less than [15] cents per MMBtu to the City; (ii) 

extending the Delivery Period in the Supply Contract for up to an additional 

seventy-two (72) months with purchases at least equal to the daily contract 

quantity in effect in Year 30 of the Supply Contract during such extended 

Delivery Period. 

 

3. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to execute any such other 

closing documents or certificates which may be required or contemplated in 

connection with the execution and delivery of the amendment to the Supply 

Contract or the establishment of a new Reset Period for the Prepaid Project.  

 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and shall be effective for all 

decisions that may be made for the upcoming Reset Period under the Supply Contract between 

the City and PEAK, and for the finalization of any amendments to the Supply Contract in order 

to effectuate the refunding of PEAK’s Series 2018 B Bonds. 

All Resolutions or portions thereof inconsistent with this Resolution are hereby repealed and 

superseded. 

BY:____________________________ 

 

Title: ____________________________ 

 

Attest:__________________________ 

 

 

[SEAL] 

49

Item 12.



 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

AMENDMENT TO GAS SUPPLY CONTRACT 

This AMENDMENT TO GAS SUPPLY CONTRACT (this “Amendment”) is entered 

into as of the 1st day of December 1, 2024, by and between the Public Energy Authority of 

Kentucky, a Natural Gas Acquisition Authority formed under the Natural Gas Acquisition 

Authority Act of the Commonwealth of Kentucky (“PEAK”) and Bessemer City, a City of the 

State of North Carolina (the “Buyer”).  PEAK and the Buyer may be referred to individually in 

this Amendment from time to time as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties”.  Capitalized terms 

used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the 

Supply Contract referenced below. 

WHEREAS, PEAK issued its Gas Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2018B (the “Series 

2018B Bonds”), pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds were applied by PEAK to purchase an 

approximately 30-year prepaid supply of natural gas (the “Gas Supply”) from BP Energy 

Company (“BPEC”), as seller, pursuant to a Prepaid Natural Gas Purchase and Sale Agreement, 

dated as of September 25, 2018 (the “Prepaid Gas Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, in connection with its acquisition of the Gas Supply, PEAK and the Buyer 

entered into that certain Gas Supply Contact, dated as of September 1, 2018, providing for the sale 

of a portion of the Gas Supply by PEAK to the Buyer (the “Supply Contract”); and 

WHEREAS, PEAK and Regions Bank, as Trustee, have entered into an Trust Indenture, 

dated as of September 1, 2024, providing for the issuance of PEAK's Gas Supply Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, 2024 Series B (the “2024 Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, a portion of the proceeds of the 2024 Bonds will be used by PEAK to prepay 

the costs of the acquisition of an additional supply of natural gas under the Prepaid Gas Agreement, 

a portion of which will be resold to the Buyer under the Supply Contract; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the issuance of the 2024 Bonds, PEAK and the Buyer have 

agreed to amend certain provisions of the Supply Contract as provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements hereinafter set forth, and for other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 

the Parties agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I 

AMENDMENTS TO SUPPLY CONTRACT 

 

Section 1.1. Amendment to Section 1.01.  Section 1.01 of the Supply Contract is hereby 

amended by deleting the definitions of the term “Delivery Period” in its entirety and replacing it 

with the following. 

 

“Delivery Period” shall mean April 1, 2019, through the earlier of [November 30, 

2054] or an Early Termination Date.   

 

50

Item 13.



  

 

 2  

 

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

Section 1.2. Amendment of Exhibit A – Daily Contract Quantity.  The Supply Contract 

is hereby amended by deleting Exhibit A – Daily Contract Quantity thereto in its entirety and 

replacing it with a new Exhibit A in the form attached to this Amendment as Attachment A. 

 

ARTICLE II 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Section 2.1. Effect of Amendment.  Except as otherwise amended by this Amendment, 

the Supply Contract shall be and remain in full force and effect, and the execution, delivery and 

effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver 

of any right, power or remedy under the Supply Contract, nor constitute a waiver of any provision 

of the Supply Contract.  PEAK and the Buyer hereby ratify and affirm all payment and 

performance obligations, contingent or otherwise, under the Supply Contract and acknowledge 

that the Supply Contract, as amended hereby, remains in full force and effect and is hereby ratified 

and affirmed. 

 

Section 2.2. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of 

which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single 

contract.  This Amendment, together with the Supply Contract and any prior amendments, 

constitute the entire contract between the Parties relating to the subject matter hereof and thereof 

and supersedes any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the 

subject matter hereof and thereof.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this 

Amendment by telecopy or electronic mail shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Amendment.  The Parties agree that an electronic signature of a Party to this 

Amendment shall be as valid as an original signature of such Party and shall be effective to bind 

such Party to this Amendment.   

 

Section 2.3. Governing Law.  This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the 

Parties shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State of 

New York, excluding conflicts of law principles which would refer to the laws of another 

jurisdiction; provided that the authority of each of Buyer and Seller to enter into and perform its 

obligations under this Amendment shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the state or 

commonwealth, as applicable, of formation of each Party. 

 

Section 2.4. Closing.  The consummation of the transactions contemplated in this 

Amendment (the “Closing”) shall take place on or before December 1, 2024 (such date of the 

Closing being the “Closing Date”).  In the event that the Closing has not taken place by the end 

of the day on the Closing Date, this Amendment shall be void and of no force or effect and the 

Supply Contract shall remain in full force and effect as though the Amendment had not been 

entered into. 

 

Section 2.5. Closing Deliverables.  On or before the Closing Date, Buyer shall deliver 

to PEAK: (i) a completed and executed certificate of Buyer, in substantially the form attached as 

Attachment B to this Amendment; (ii) a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary or other 

51

Item 13.



  

 

 3  

 

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

duly authorized representative of Buyer setting forth (a) the resolution or ordinance of its 

governing body authorizing Buyer to execute and deliver this Amendment and to enter into the 

transactions contemplated hereby and any agreements relating thereto, in substantially the form 

attached as Attachment C to this Amendment (b) the appropriate individuals who are authorized 

to execute the Amendment and any such agreements, (c) specimen signatures of such authorized 

individuals, and (d) the organizational documents of Buyer, certified as being true and complete; 

and (iii) an opinion of counsel to the Buyer in substantially the form set forth in Attachment D to 

this Amendment; and (iv) such other documents, certificates and opinions as may be reasonably 

requested by PEAK. 

 

Section 2.6. Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds.  Buyer acknowledges, agrees to and reaffirms 

its obligations set forth in Section 23.1 of the Supply Contract regarding to the tax-exempt status 

of the Bonds. 

 

 

(Signatures appear on the following page) 

52

Item 13.



 

 Signature Page to the Amendment to Gas Supply Contract  
 

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

 

IN WITNESS whereof this Amendment has been executed on the date first above written. 

 

 

 

[PROJECT PARTICIPANT]   

   

   

   

By:  ____________________________  Attested By:  __________________________ 

   

Printed Name:  ___________________  Printed Name: _________________________ 

   

Title: ___________________________  Title: ________________________________ 

   

 

PUBLIC ENERGY AUTHORITY OF KENTUCKY  

   

   

   

By: ______________________________  Attested by: ___________________________ 

   

Printed Name: _____________________  Printed Name: _________________________ 

   

Title: ____________________________  Title: _________________________________ 

   

   

 

 

53

Item 13.



 

   
 

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

ATTACHMENT A 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DAILY CONTRACT QUANTITY 

 

 

 

[Insert Quantities Through Extension Term] 

 

 

54

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

ATTACHMENT B 

BUYER CERTIFICATE* 

September 1, 2024 

The undersigned hereby certifies that [he/she] is the [Title] of the [Entity] (“Buyer”), and that as 

such [he or she] is authorized to execute this certificate on behalf of Buyer.  This certificate is executed in 

connection with that certain Amendment to the Gas Supply Contract, dated as of December 1, 2024 (the 

“Amendment”), between Buyer and the Public Energy Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK” or “Seller”).  The 

Amendment modifies that certain Gas Supply Contract between Buyer and Seller dated as of September 1, 

2018 (the “Gas Supply Contract”).  Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this Certificate 

have the meanings assigned to them in the Gas Supply Contract. 

Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2024, Seller will issue its Gas Supply 

Revenue Refunding Bonds, 2024 Series B (the “2024 Bonds”).  A portion of the proceeds of the 2024 

Bonds will be used by PEAK to prepay the costs of the acquisition of an additional supply of natural gas 

under the Prepaid Gas Agreement, a portion of which will be resold to the Buyer under the Supply Contract.  

In connection with the foregoing, Buyer hereby certifies and represents as follows:  

1. Buyer is a Municipal Utility duly created and validly existing and in good standing under 

the laws of the [State Name] (“State”) and has the corporate power and authority to enter 

into and perform its obligations under the Gas Supply Contract. 

2. The Amendment has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Buyer, is in full force 

and effect and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer enforceable in 

accordance with its terms.  Attached hereto as Annex A is a true, correct and complete copy 

of the resolution or ordinance of Buyer authorizing the execution and delivery of the 

Amendment. 

3. I have reviewed the statements and information relating to Buyer and its utility system 

attached as Annex B that are contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and final 

Official Statement prepared by the Seller in connection with the sale of the Bonds, as of 

the date hereof and to the best of my knowledge, such statements and information are true 

and correct in all material respects and did not and do not contain any untrue statement of 

a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make such statements, 

in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

4. The authorization, execution and delivery of the Amendment and compliance with the 

provisions thereof (a) will not conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default under, any 

instrument relating to the organization, existence or operation of Buyer, any commitment, 

agreement, bond resolution, bond, note, indenture or other instrument to which Buyer is a 

party or by which it or its property is bound or affected, or any ruling, regulation, ordinance, 

judgment, order or decree to which Buyer (or any of its officers in their respective 

capacities as such) is subject or any provision of the laws of the State relating to Buyer and 

 
*  The Buyer Certificate set forth in this Attachment B is a form certificate for buyers that are Municipal Utilities. This form 

will be modified with language approved by Bond Counsel in the case of a Governmental Person (other than a Municipal 

Utility) that sells Gas (or electricity generated from such Gas) to a Municipal Utility, and possesses all power, authority, 

and applicable approvals necessary for it to enter into this Contract. 

55

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

its affairs, and (b) will not result in, or require the creation or imposition of, any Lien on 

any of the properties or revenues of Buyer pursuant to any of the foregoing. 

5. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation by or before any court, 

governmental agency, public board or administrative body pending or, to the best of 

Buyer’s knowledge, threatened, against Buyer which in any way affects or questions the 

validity or enforceability of any provision of the Amendment or the Gas Supply Contract. 

6. Buyer has entered into the Amendment for the purpose of acquiring additional long-term 

supply of Gas (x) for sale to its Retail Customers, or (y) to produce electricity for sale to 

its Retail Customers.   

7. Tax Certifications 

a. Buyer understands that PEAK will issue the 2024 Bonds to finance prepayment of the 

purchase price payable by PEAK for the Gas to be sold and delivered to Buyer under the 

Gas Supply Contract.  Buyer further understands and acknowledges that PEAK will issue 

the Bonds as tax-exempt obligations under Sections 141-150 of the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder 

(the “Regulations”).  Sections 141-150 of the Code and the Regulations impose certain 

conditions and requirements on Buyer’s use of the Gas purchased by it under the Gas 

Supply Contract (the “Gas Supply”) in order to establish and maintain the tax exemption 

for interest on the Bonds.  Buyer understands that the statements made herein will be relied 

upon by PEAK in its effort to comply with the conditions imposed by the Code and the 

Regulations, and by Bond Counsel in rendering its opinion with respect to the exclusion 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the 2024 Bonds.   

b. Definitions:  For purposes of this Certificate: 

i. “Testing Period” means calendar years 2019 through 2023.  

ii. “Service Area” means (A) any area throughout which Buyer provided, at all times 

during (x) the Testing Period, and (y) the period immediately following the Testing 

Period and ending on the Issue Date, natural gas transmission or distribution 

services or electric energy distribution services, or (B) any area recognized as the 

natural gas or electric distribution service area of Buyer under state or federal law. 

iii. “Issue Date” shall mean [Issue Date], 2024, the issue date of the 2024 Bonds. 

iv. “Governmental Person” means a state or local governmental unit or any 

instrumentality thereof.  It does not include the United States or any agency or 

instrumentality thereof.   

v. “Retail Customer” shall mean a customer of Buyer located in the Service Area of 

the Buyer that purchases Gas or electricity, as applicable, for consumption and not 

for resale. 

vi. “Nongovernmental Agency” means any Person other than a Governmental Person. 

56

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

vii. “Private Use” means use of property, directly or indirectly, in any trade or business 

carried on by any Person, or any activity of any Person other than a natural person, 

in each case excluding Governmental Persons, unless (1) such use is merely as a 

member of the general public, (2) such property is intended to be and is in fact 

reasonably available for use on the same basis as natural persons not engaged in a 

trade or business, and (3) no priority rights therein or special benefits therefrom 

are extended to such Person (other than customary and reasonable differences in 

rates and terms and conditions of service for different classes of users).  For this 

purpose, property is considered to be “used” by a Person if it is owned by such 

Person or otherwise actually or beneficially used by such Person under a lease, 

management contract, output-type contract, or similar arrangement.  For the 

avoidance of doubt, Private Use does not arise as a result of the receipt by a  

Nongovernmental Agency (including an industrial or commercial customer) of 

retail Gas service from Buyer under a generally applicable and uniformly applied 

tariff (including, for example, customary and reasonable differences in rates and 

terms and conditions of service for different classes of users).  On the other hand, 

Private Use does arise, for example, if a Nongovernmental Agency receives retail 

Gas service for its trade or business from Buyer under a contract entered into 

between such Nongovernmental Agency and Buyer, other than bona fide 

requirements contracts satisfying the requirements of the Regulations. 

c. In accordance with the requirements of Sections 141-150 of the Code and the Regulations, 

Buyer certifies as follows: 

i. Buyer is a Municipal Utility that owns and operates either or both a gas distribution 

utility or an electricity distribution utility (the “System”). 

ii. Attachment I hereto shows (A) the average annual amount of Gas either (x) sold 

by Buyer to Retail Customers within its Service Area during the Testing Period, or 

(y) used by Buyer to generate electricity for sale to Retail Customers within its 

Service Area during the Testing Period, (B) the maximum amount of Gas storage 

available to Buyer on the date hereof, and (C) the amount of Gas that Buyer has a 

right to acquire for the System from any Person in any year during the term of the 

Gas Supply Contract.  

iii. Buyer owns and operates the System and reasonably expects to use all of the Gas 

Supply solely to (x) furnish Gas to its Retail Customers located in its Service Area 

in the normal and customary operations of the System, or (y) generate electricity 

for sale to its Retail Customers located in its Service Area in the normal and 

customary operation of the System.  

iv. The amount of Gas to be acquired under the Gas Supply Contract during any year, 

plus the amount of Gas otherwise available to Buyer for the System as of the Issue 

Date, does not exceed the sum of (A) the annual average amount during the Testing 

Period of Gas purchased by Retail Customers of Buyer, (B) the amount of Gas to 

be used by Buyer to generate electricity for sale to Retail Customers of Buyer, and 

(C) the amount of Gas to be used to transport the Gas acquired under the Gas 

Supply Contract to the System during the year.  For purposes of the preceding 

sentence, the “amount of Gas otherwise available to Buyer for the System as of the 

Issue Date” means the sum of (I) the amount of Gas held by Buyer for the System 

57

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

on the Issue Date, and (II) the amount of Gas that Buyer has an obligation to 

purchase for the System in any year during the term of the Gas Supply Contract, 

divided by [30] (the number of years in the Gas Supply Contract as amended). 

v. Buyer will not engage in any intentional act to render the volume of Gas acquired 

under the Gas Supply Contract to be in excess of (A) the amount of Gas needed to 

serve Retail Customers of Buyer, and (B) the amount of Gas used to transport the 

acquired Gas to the System.  Buyer reasonably expects that all amounts paid for 

Gas acquired pursuant to the Gas Supply Contract will be derived from current 

revenues from operations of the System.      

vi. The Gas Supply is to be used in the Service Area.  Therefore, the Gas Supply may 

not be used in any expansion of the Service Area occurring after the date of this 

Certificate unless Buyer receives the prior written approval of PEAK and agrees 

to comply with such conditions and limitations as PEAK may require, provided 

however that Buyer may expand its Service Area for this purpose, without seeking 

approval of PEAK, to any area contiguous to its existing Service Area if permitted 

by State law. 

vii. Except to the extent set forth in the Gas Supply Contract, or a prior written consent 

of PEAK delivered to Buyer, Buyer will not permit any portion of the Gas Supply 

to be used for a Private Use.  In determining compliance with this requirement, 

Buyer will inform PEAK of the current existence of, and during the term of the 

Gas Supply Contract will notify PEAK prior to entering into, any of the following 

types of contracts or arrangements: 

(A)   Any sale or other disposition to a Nongovernmental Agency of all or any part of the 

System; 

(B)   Any lease of or management contract for the operation of all or any part of the System if 

such lease or management contract is with a Nongovernmental Agency; 

(C)   Any contract providing for the sale of Gas delivered under the Gas Supply Contract to a 

Nongovernmental Agency; and 

(D)   Any arrangement that conveys to a Nongovernmental Agency priority rights or any other 

preferential benefits to use of the output of the System (other than customary and reasonable differences in 

rates and terms and conditions of service for different classes of users). 

Buyer will not use any of the types of contracts or arrangements described in A through D above 

without the prior written approval of PEAK and under PEAK’s the written instruction, provided, however, 

that arrangements providing for the retail sale of Gas from the System to the general public (including 

private businesses as members of the general public) solely on the basis of rates or charges that are generally 

applicable and uniformly applied do not have to be reported to PEAK.   

8. The undersigned has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this certificate on behalf 

of Buyer. 

Dated as of the day and year first above written. 

58

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

     [BUYER] 

     By:_________________________________  

     

     Name:  

     Title:   

 

      [SEAL] 

 

 

 
ANNEX A 

[Attach Buyer’s resolution authorizing the Amendment to the Gas Supply Contract] 

 

ANNEX B 

[Attach Official Statement Excerpt]  

 

 

59

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

ATTACHMENT C 

BUYER’S AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE [GOVERNING BODY] OF THE [PROJECT PARTICIPANT] 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN AMENDMENT TO ITS GAS SUPPLY 

CONTRACT WITH THE PUBLIC ENERGY AUTHORITY OF KENTUCKY 

(“PEAK”); AUTHORIZING THE [AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL] TO ACCEPT A 

DISCOUNT BELOW THE MINIMUM DISCOUNT SPECIFIED IN THE GAS SUPPLY 

CONTRACT IN CONNECTION WITH THE RESET OF THE AVAILABLE DISCOUNT 

IN PEAK’S GAS PREPAYMENT PROJECT; AND ADDRESSING RELATED MATTERS 

WHEREAS, City of Bessemer City ("Participant") is duly organized and validly 

existing as a [description of Project Participant]; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Bessemer City has the authority, among other things, to 

negotiate and enter into contracts for the purchase, transportation or sale of natural gas 

and natural gas reserves, or any combination thereof, with any entity engaged in the 

purchase, transportation or sale of natural gas, whether public or private, located within 

or without the State of North Carolina; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Energy Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK”), which was formed 

pursuant to the Natural Gas Acquisition Authority Act, KRS 353.400 to 353.410, has 

acquired long-term natural gas supplies from BP Energy Company ("BPEC"),  for resale to 

[Participant] and certain other public gas distribution systems that elected to contract with 

PEAK for a portion of the gas purchased from BPEC (the "Prepaid Project"); and  

WHEREAS, in order to fund the prepayment of gas supplies in connection with the Prepaid 

Project, PEAK has issued its Gas Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 B (the “Series 2018 B 

Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, City of Bessemer City and PEAK are parties to that certain Gas Supply 

Contract dated as of September 1, 2018 (the “Supply Contact”) providing for the sale and 

purchase of gas supplies from the Prepaid Project, and capitalized terms used and not 

defined in this resolution shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Supply Contract; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Supply Contract provides for the periodic re-calculation of the 

Available Discount for Reset Periods subsequent to the Initial Reset Period pursuant to 

procedures and parameters set forth in a Repricing Agreement between PEAK and BPEC; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Initial Reset Period expires on November 30, 2024 and pursuant to 

the Repricing Agreement the amount of the Available Discount and the length of the Reset 

Period during which the Available Discount will be in effect will be determined; and  

60

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

WHEREAS, PEAK is in discussions with BPEC in connection with the optimal 

approach to structuring the refunding of the Series 2018 B Bonds and is considering 

different options which affect the Available Discount for the Reset Period, including  

different options for the term and discount to be available during the Reset Period; and  

WHEREAS, certain of those options may require an Amendment to the Supply 

Contract, while others may not; 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it hereby resolved by the City Council of Bessemer City that: 

1. The City Manager, is hereby authorized to (a) respond to all notices provided 

by PEAK with respect to the estimated Available Discount, the final 

Available Discount and the Reset Period, including the Remarketing Notice, 

pursuant to the Supply Contract, and (b) enter into an amendment to the 

Supply Contract between [Participant] and PEAK, if necessary and 

appropriate, to reflect such changes to the Supply Contract as shall be 

necessary or desirable in structuring the best resolution of the Reset Period 

options that may be available to PEAK under the Repricing Agreement, as 

described in the following section of this resolution.  

 

2. The Authorized Officer is hereby delegated full authority to effectuate a 

continuation of the transaction for the Reset Period from among the options 

that may be available, including but not limited to: (i) accepting an Available 

Discount for the next Reset Period (as determined under the Repricing 

Agreement) that is less than the Minimum Discount specified in the Supply 

Contract, but in no case less than [15] cents per MMBtu to [Participant]; (ii) 

extending the Delivery Period in the Supply Contract for up to an additional 

seventy-two (72) months with purchases at least equal to the daily contract 

quantity in effect in Year 30 of the Supply Contract during such extended 

Delivery Period. 

 

3. The City of Bessemer City is hereby authorized to execute any such other 

closing documents or certificates which may be required or contemplated in 

connection with the execution and delivery of the amendment to the Supply 

Contract or the establishment of a new Reset Period for the Prepaid Project. 

 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and shall be effective for all 

decisions that may be made for the upcoming Reset Period under the Supply Contract between 

City of Bessemer City and PEAK, and for the finalization of any amendments to the Supply 

Contract in order to effectuate the refunding of PEAK’s Series 2018 B Bonds. 

All Resolutions or portions thereof inconsistent with this Resolution are hereby repealed and 

superseded. 

 

61

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

BY:____________________________ 

 

Title: ___________________________ 

 

Attest:__________________________ 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

62

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

 

ATTACHMENT D 

FORM OF OPINION OF COUNSEL 

TO BUYER 

 

Date of Closing, 2024   

Public Energy Authority of Kentucky 

Post Office Box 299 

516 Highland Avenue 

Carrollton, Kentucky 41008 

Attn: President and General Manager 

 

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 

1585 Broadway 

New York, NY 10036 

 

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A  

The Financial Center 

505 North 20th Street, Suite 950 

Birmingham, AL 35203 

 

BP Energy Company 

201 Helios Way 

Houston, TX  77079 

 

Re: Gas Supply Contract between Public Energy Authority of 

Kentucky and Buyer [Name] 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

I am the duly appointed and acting ___ for and have acted as counsel to the Board of [_________] 

for the (“Buyer”) in connection with the Amendment to the Gas Supply Contract between Public Energy 

Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK”) and the Buyer dated as of [________] 1, 2024.  PEAK acquired a supply 

of natural gas (the “Gas Supply”) from BP Energy Company (“Supplier”) pursuant to the Prepaid Natural 

Gas Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of [________], 2024, between Supplier and PEAK with the net 

proceeds of its Gas Supply Revenue Bonds 2024 Series B.  PEAK will sell a portion of the Gas Supply to 

the Buyer under that certain Gas Supply Contract between PEAK and Buyer dated as of September 1, 2018, 

as amended (the “Gas Supply Contract”). 

 

Unless otherwise specified herein, all terms used but not defined in this opinion shall have the same 

meaning ascribed to them in the Gas Supply Contract. 

 

In connection with this opinion, I have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (other than the 

signatures of officers and directors of the Buyer) and the authenticity of all items submitted to me as 

originals and the conformity with originals of all items submitted to me as copies, and I am aware of no 

63

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

facts or circumstances that might indicate that these assumptions are not correct.  I have further assumed 

the due authorization, execution and delivery of the Gas Supply Contract by PEAK.  In connection with 

this opinion, I have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to my satisfaction, of the 

following:  

(a) Resolution No. __, duly adopted by the governing body 

of Buyer on _______, 2024 (the “Resolution”) authorizing Buyer to execute 

and deliver the Amendment to the Gas Supply Contract; 

 

(b) Executed counterparts of the Gas Supply Contract, 

together with each of the Exhibits thereto; and 

 

(c) Such other documents, information, and facts as are 

necessary for me to render the opinions contained herein. 

 

Based upon the foregoing, I am of the opinion that: 

 

i. The Buyer is a ____________ duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the state of ___________ (the “State”), and has 

the power and authority to deliver gas to retail gas customers desiring such 

service from the Buyer within its service area, to own its properties, to 

carry on its business as now being conducted, to execute, deliver, and 

perform under the Amendment and the Gas Supply Contract. 

 

ii. The rates charged by the Buyer to its retail gas customers 

are currently not regulated by any state or federal regulatory authority. 

 

iii. The Buyer has lawful authority to own, operate, and 

manage its gas distribution utility and to fix and collect rates, fees and 

other charges in connection with such distribution system. 

 

iv. The governing body of the Buyer has duly authorized the 

execution and delivery of the Amendment and will not require, subsequent 

to the execution of the Amendment by the Buyer, any consent or approval 

of the governing body or any officers of the Buyer. 

 

v. The Amendment constitutes the legal, valid, and binding 

obligation of the Buyer, enforceable in accordance with its terms.  The 

Buyer complied with any applicable procurement requirements of State or 

local law prior to entering into the Amendment.   

 

vi. The authorization, execution and delivery of the 

Amendment and compliance with the provisions thereof (a) will not 

conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default under, any instrument 

relating to the organization, existence or operation of the Buyer, any 

commitment, agreement, bond resolution, bond, note, indenture or other 

instrument to which the Buyer is a party or by which it or its property is 

bound or affected, or any ruling, regulation, ordinance, judgment, order or 

decree to which the Buyer (or any of its officers in their respective 

capacities as such) is subject or any provision of the laws of the State 

relating to the Buyer and its affairs, and (b) will not result in, or require 

64

Item 13.



  

 

   

 

 

 

ME1 48128263v.1 

the creation or imposition of, any Lien on any of the properties or revenues 

of the Buyer pursuant to any of the foregoing.  The foregoing assumes that 

all payments under the Gas Supply Contract are operating expenses of the 

Buyer’s municipal utility system, as described in the Gas Supply Contract. 

 

vii. As of the date of the Amendment, to the best of my 

knowledge after due inquiry, there is no pending or threatened action or 

proceeding against or affecting the Buyer which in any way would 

adversely affect the legality, validity, or enforceability of the Amendment 

or the Gas Supply Contract. 

 

viii. The foregoing opinion with respect to the enforceability 

of the Amendment and the Gas Supply Contract is subject to the effect of 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar 

laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, to the exercise of 

judicial discretion in the appropriate case, and to the limitations imposed 

by general principles of equity upon the specific enforceability of any of 

the remedies, covenants or other provisions of the Amendment, the Gas 

Supply Contract, and any related documents and upon the availability of 

injunctive relief or other equitable remedies. 

 

My opinion as to enforceability is limited by standards of good faith, fair dealing, materiality, and 

reasonableness that may be applied by a court to the exercise of certain rights and remedies; limitations 

based on statutes or on public policy limiting a person’s right to waive the benefits of statutory provisions 

or of a common law right; and limitations releasing a party from or indemnifying a party against liability 

for its own wrongful or negligent act when such release or indemnification is contrary to public policy. 

 

 This opinion is rendered solely for use and benefit of the addressees in connection with the Gas 

Supply Contract and may not be relied upon other than in connection with the Gas Supply Contract, or by 

any other person or entity for any purpose whatsoever, nor may it be quoted in whole or in part or otherwise 

referred to in any document or delivered to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of 

the undersigned. 

 

This opinion is given as of the date hereof and no opinion is expressed as to the effect of future 

applicable laws or court decisions.  I assume no obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligation, to update 

or supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances which may hereafter come to my attention 

or as to any change in laws which may hereafter occur. 

 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

65

Item 13.



66

Item 14.



67

Item 14.



68

Item 14.



69

Item 14.



70

Item 14.



71

Item 14.



72

Item 14.



73

Item 14.



74

Item 14.



75

Item 14.



76

Item 14.



77

Item 14.



78

Item 14.



79

Item 14.



80

Item 14.



81

Item 14.


	Top
	Item 3.	Approval of Minutes: - reg
	Bessemer City Regular Meeting Minutes April 08 2024

	Item 4.	Approval of Minutes:- Work
	City Council Work Session Minutes April 2024

	Item 5.	National Police Week Proclamation
	Proclamation for National Police Week 2024

	Item 6.	Proclamation Commemorating Juneteenth Week & Festival
	Proclamation- Juneteenth Festival

	Item 7.	Establish a Public Hearing - Rezoning Request (Tryon Courthouse Road)
	1216 Tryon Courthouse Application Packet (002)

	Item 9.	Public Hearing- Petition for Voluntary Annexation (Meritage Homes)
	Annexation Packet

	Item 10.	Ordinance to Extend the corporate limits of the City of Bessemer City, NC: City Council
	ANNEXATION_ORDINANCE_Meritage

	Item 11.	Ordinance Amending Zoning Map
	Land Development Application
	Request for Board Action CD 03-2023
	Areas of Relief and Conditiions of Approval- updated
	CD 03-2023 Consistency and Reasonableness Statement

	Item 12.	Ordinance - Authorizing An Amendment To Gas Supply Contract With The Public Energy Authority of Kentucky (“PEAK”):
	PEAK 2024B Reset - Draft ORDINANCE OF BESSEMER CITY

	Item 13.	Amendment To Gas Supply Contract
	PEAK 2024 B Reset - Amendment to Long-Term Gas Supply Contract

	Item 14.	Audit Contract:
	Audit Contract

	Bottom

